ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Horry County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 19 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

Opinion No. 2013-UP-063 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 1/30/2013)

07-GS-26-2961, 2962, 2963, 08-GS-26-2698

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JIMMY LEE SESSIONS,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000805

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court allowing into evidence a pair of tennis shoes alleged to connect Sessions with sole prints left at the crime scene, as the State failed to establish the provenance of the shoes before December 2008, when they were removed from a bag at the detention center purported to contain Session's personal belongings.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court allowing SLED "victimologist" Mike Prodan to testify about the "victimology, method of operation, motive, things like that," of the murders, as his testimony violated Rule 702, SCRE, State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), and - since it involves the same witness—State v. Tapp, 387 S.C. 159, 691 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2010) *rev'd* 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 2 through 6, 2009, Petitioner Jimmy Lee Sessions and Christopher Stephens stood trial in Horry County, before Judge Stephen H. John and a jury, on indictments charging Sessions with two counts of murder and one count each of first-degree burglary and armed robbery and for co-defendant Stephens accessory before the fact of the two murders and armed robbery. The State alleged that in June 2006 Sessions, with the assistance of Stephens, had robbed and murdered a mid-level drug dealer, Jamilla Hytower, and her roommate, Monica Wall.

The first trial of these charges in November 2008 ended with the judge declaring a mistrial (and dismissing accessory charges against Christopher Stephens' brother, Marshall, for lack of evidence) after the jury deadlocked. The State's case against Sessions and Stephens depends almost entirely upon the testimony of James Pearl, who claims he opted out of their plan to rob and murder Hytower. R. p. 122, line 22 – R. p. 125, line 18.

On trial, the defense focused upon the unreliability of the State's evidence against Sessions and Stephens. Counsel pointed out that several other suspects had motives to murder Hytower and Wall as well. The jury convicted both defendants as charged, and the judge sentenced Sessions to concurrent terms of life imprisonment for the two murders, thirty years for first-degree burglary and thirty years for armed robbery, and Stephens to concurrent terms of forty years on each of the two accessories before the fact of murder and thirty years for accessory before the fact of armed robbery.

Sessions filed a notice of appeal which the Court of Appeals affirmed on January 30, 2013. State v. Sessions, Op. No. 2013-UP-063 (Ct. App. filed January 30, 2013). App. 1 – 4. Appellate counsel filed a petition for rehearing which the Court of Appeals denied on March 20, 2013. App. 13. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

QUESTION

I.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court allowing into evidence a pair of tennis shoes alleged to connect Sessions with sole prints left at the crime scene, as the State failed to establish the provenance of the shoes before December 2008, when they were removed from a bag at the detention center purported to contain Session's personal belongings.

The State alleged that in June 2006, Sessions, with the assistance of his co-defendant Christopher Stephens, had robbed and murdered a mid-level drug dealer, Jamilla Hytower, and her roommate, Monica Wall. The State's case against Sessions and Stephens depends almost entirely upon the testimony of James Pearl, who claimed he opted out of their plan to rob and murder Hytower. R. p. 122, line 22 – R. p. 125, line 18.

An trial, the defense focused upon the unreliability of the State's evidence against Sessions and Stephens and pointed out that several other suspects had motives to murder Hytower and Wall as well. The person who murdered Jamilla Hytower and Melissa Gomez quite possibly left shoeprints in a bathroom and in the kitchen. R. p. 416, lines 14-19; R. p. 459, line 22- R. p. 460, line 10. The murders occurred in July 2006. Sessions was arrested in Connecticut three months later. R. p. 430, lines 8-19. A private extradition company transported him to Horry County on November 27, 2006. R. p. 434, lines 9-15.

On May 11, 2007, the detention center issued a memo stating that inmates would no longer be allowed to possess their own shoes. R. p. 436, lines 8-10. A captain with the detention center testified:

The memo instructed the officers to begin on the following Sunday collecting them and placing them in the property bag. ... The officers would have collected them. They put them in a clear plastic bag and then they put them in the inmates' property bag.

R. p. 436, lines 10-17. The captain continued: “[W]e have no way of knowing that these are the ones [Sessions] wore in,” she admitted, nor was she present “when they were collected.” R. p. 490, lines 12-22. Moreover, “[a]ny officer” at the detention center had access to the room where the inmates’ personal belongings were kept.” R. p. 438, lines 20-25. The State seized the pair of shoes alleged to belong to Sessions from the property room in December 2008, a year and a half after the memo and nearly two years after the arrest. R. p. 429, line 24 – R. p. 430, line 6.

Defense counsel objected to the admission of the shoes on the ground that “we would need to have somebody to say how they got into this chain and I don’t think we have that.” R. p. 431, lines 5-22; R. p. 474, lines 22-24; R. p. 486, line 23- R. p. 487, line 3. The judge overruled the objection and the shoes were admitted into evidence. R. p. 487, line 20 – R. p. 489, line 25.

A SLED expert in footwear impression examination testified that the tennis shoes taken from the detention center were consistent with the sole prints found in the kitchen and the bathroom at the crime scene. R. p. 498, lines 19-24; R. p. 505, line 23- R. p. 506, line 20. The Assistant Solicitor exploited this evidence in closing:

Told you these shoes came off Jimmy Lee Sessions... [T]hey are consistent with a print left where no print should be. ... Don’t reward him because he was not smart enough to get rid of those shoes.

R. p. 1009, lines 1-20.

State v. Glenn, 328 S.C. 300, 492 S.E.2d 393, 395 (1997), succinctly summarizes the chain-of-custody law:

Because fungible items such as drugs or blood samples are not readily identifiable and may be easily tampered with, the party

offering such items into evidence must establish a chain-of-custody as far as practicable. [Citations omitted.] Where the analyzed substance is passed through several hands, the evidence must not leave it to conjecture as to had it and what was done with it between the taking an analysis. However, the proof of chain-of-custody need not negate all possibility of tampering, but instead must only establish a complete chain of evidence as far as practicable. [Citations omitted.]

While the chain of custody requirement is strict where fungible evidence is involved, where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence – that is evidence that is unique and identifiable – the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required ... [i]f the offered item possesses characteristics which are fairly unique and readily identifiable, and if the substance of which the item is composed is relatively impervious to change, the trial court is viewed as having broad discretion to admit nearly on the basis of testimony that the item is the one in question and is in a substantially unchanged condition. On the other hand, if the offered evidence is of such a nature as not to be readily identifiable, or to be susceptible to alteration by tampering or contamination, the sound exercise of the trial court's discretion may require a substantially more elaborate foundation. A foundation of the latter sort will commonly entail testimony tracing the "chain-of-custody" of the item with sufficient completeness to render it reasonably probable that the original item has neither been exchanged with another nor been contaminated or tampered with. [Citations and quotation marks omitted.]

See, also State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 620 S.E.2d 737 (2006).

In short, the State was unable to account for these tennis shoes until after they were removed from personal-property room in December 2008, one month after the case against Sessions and Stephens ended in a mistrial. No witness testified that those shoes were ever worn by Sessions.

The Court of Appeals held that that where the issue is the admissibility of non-fungible evidence—that is, evidence that is unique and identifiable, the establishment of a strict chain of custody is not required, and that the possession of the shoes would go to the weight of the evidence. App. 2. The Court misapprehended the issue in this case because there was no way to prove that the shoes were Sessions' based on all that had happened in between as described above.

Tennis shoes are hardly unique. It is not as though they have serial numbers. The law should not be read, as the Court of Appeals did, to utterly do away with a chain requirement in the disturbing vague factual context here. Due to this failure in the chain of custody, the Court should reverse Sessions' convictions and remand for a new trial. The shoes were significant evidence against Sessions and were not reliable evidence due to the lack of a chain of custody.

QUESTION

II.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court allowing SLED “victimologist” Mike Prodan to testify about the “victimology, method of operation, motive, things like that,” of the murders, as his testimony violated Rule 702, SCRE, State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), and - since it involves the same witness—State v. Tapp, 387 S.C. 159, 691 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2010) *rev’d* 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012).

In February 2009, SLED “victimologist” Mike Prodan testified about “victimology, method of operation, motive, things like that” – the Assistant Solicitor’s description of his content—in an effort to bolster the State’s forensically-troubled prosecution of Sessions and Stephens. On April 9, 2009 the Court of Appeals found Prodan’s testimony about “victimology” to be both irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. State v. Tapp, 387 S.C. 159, 691 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2010) *rev’d* 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012).

Shortly afterwards, the Supreme Court decided State v. White, 676 S.E.2d 687, which held, “All expert testimony must satisfy the Rule 702 criteria, and that includes the trial court’s singular gatekeeping function in insuring the proposed expert testimony meets a reliability threshold for the jury’s ultimate consideration.” The Court of Appeals then granted rehearing in *Tapp*, and in its refiled opinion, reversed and remanded for a new trial finding that it was error to qualify Prodan as an expert witness because:

[W]ithout the guidance of the White decision, Tapp was not able to sufficiently develop and pursue theories in which to challenge Prodan’s qualification; nor was the trial court given the opportunity to address the issue. We find that given the deficient nature of the record on this issue it would be imprudent of this court to attempt to fashion a test or rule for the qualification of a crime scene analyst or victimologist. Rather, justice demands this burden first be placed

upon the trial court after allowing the parties to fully develop the issue.

The Supreme Court granted the state's petition for certiorari, and issued an opinion in 2012 reversing the Court of Appeals and reinstating Tapp's convictions. State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012). This Court elsewhere agreed with the Court of Appeals regarding the inadmissibility of the evidence under challenge.

In the present case, the State gave the defense no notice that they intended to call Prodan as an expert witness in victimology. R. p. 572, line 21 – R. p. 573, line 16.

The defense objected to Prodan's testimony on the grounds of relevance and as speculative. R. p. 582, lines 8-18; R. p. 602, lines 6-18. The judge overruled the objections and allowed Prodan to testify. He essentially took the facts as presented by the State and constructed a narrative supporting the State's theory of the case. Prodan's testimony is reproduced in the Record on Appeal at pages 568 through 611. A sense of its content is given by the following exchange:

Assistant Solicitor: What is the significance of finding no drugs [and] no money in the house of [a] mid-level drug dealer?

Prodan: It's a reasonable conclusion that the motive was... the forcible taking of the money and the drugs and that the individual was willing to kill to do that.

R. p. 605, lines 13-17. The Assistant Solicitor exploited Prodan's testimony in his closing to bolster the State's case.

He[Sessions]takes Jamilla [Hytower] back to the bedroom. Doesn't know Monica is in bathroom yet. And he takes her and he put her down on the floor. He grabs these pillows, grabs it, slams down on her head, puts the gun to the back of her head because as Mike Prodan said, "it's a lot easier to shoot that pillow than to shoot Jamilla Hytower."

R. p. 1010, lines 17-20.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial judge erred in admitting Prodan's testimony without making his own determination as to whether it was reliable. However, the Court found no reversible error because beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict. App. 2-4. That the error had little, if any, likelihood of affecting the verdict must be stated beyond a reasonable doubt. See State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 27, 732 S.E.2d 880, 890 (2012) *citing Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967).

The Court misunderstood the issue as Prodan's testimony was unduly prejudicial to Sessions without a finding of its reliability. In short, Prodan's testimony violated Rule 702, State v. White and —obviously—State v. Tapp. Prodan's testimony was very prejudicial given that he led the jury to believe that his "science" dictated that the murderer or murderers knew the victim and he told the jurors that Hightower only sold drugs "if there was previous notification." R. 595, l. 1 – 596, l. 14.

The Supreme Court held in State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 728 S.E.2d 468 (2012) that "under White, after qualifying Prodan as an expert, the circuit judge should have then evaluated the substance of Prodan's testimony to determine if it was reliable, as required by Rule 702, SCRE." Although the Supreme Court found that admitting Prodan's testimony before vetting it for its reliability was error, they found the error to be harmless. The Supreme Court found no reversible error because beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict.

The admission of Prodan's testimony in Sessions' case was certainly error and was certainly not harmless. Sessions' case is distinguished from Tapp because Prodan testified in Tapp that the victim had a low risk for encountering a violent crime. Prodan said the decedent Hytower had a moderate risk of encountering a violent crime due to her drug sales. R. 589, ll. 16 - 590, ll. 5. Prodan said Hightower only sold drugs if there were previous notification. R. 595, ll. 1 – 596, ll. 14. Tapp confessed to a cellmate that he murdered the decedent in that case.

The Supreme Court held in Tapp, Id., that whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.

Prodan's testimony in Sessions' case was not harmless because he also testified that both decedents were controlled by the murderer. R. 597, ll. 14 – 598, ll. 21. Prodan stated that there was "always a motive for murder and that the concept of murder without motive was a media myth." R. 608, l. 11 – 609, l. 8.