**RECEIVED**

JUL 18 2013

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

**S.C. Supreme Court**

---

**Appeal from Horry County  
The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000805**

---

**THE STATE,**

**RESPONDENT,**

**V.**

**JIMMY LEE SESSIONS,**

**PETITIONER.**

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

**ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III  
Senior Assistant Attorney General**

**P. O. Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-6305**

**JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II

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

See **R. pp. 569-70.**

<sup>15</sup> Agent Prodan is a “member of the International Criminal Investigative Analyst Fellowship, which is . . . a worldwide organization that standardizes and provides training on criminal investigative analyses profiling.” He is also “a member of the Association of Threat Assessment Professionals,” and he had previously been a member of the “California Homicide Investigators Association, and California Sexual Assault Investigators' Association.” **R. p. 570.** Agent Prodan has “been brought in on cases by law enforcement . . . many times” and he has been qualified as a crime scene analyst in a number of courts. **R. p. 571.**

Once the trial judge had ascertained that Agent Prodan's notes had been provided to the defense,<sup>16</sup> he asked the State to briefly summarize to the proffered testimony. **R. pp. 581-82.** The Assistant Solicitor explained that:

the process of my direct-examination of Agent Prodan is going to be, show him some of the State's exhibits, . . . ask him if he has had an opportunity to review them, based on his expert opinion, what do these crime scene photos tell us in reference to victimology, method of operation, motive, things like that, Your Honor. It has nothing to do specifically with the Defendants. He has not reviewed the Defendants, he has not talked with the Defendants, he has not got the Defendants' statements.

**R. p. 582.**

The defendants stated their objections to the proffered testimony. Sessions' sole objection was relevance, **R. p. 582, l. 18**, while Stephens asked that he be allowed to view the notes to prepare for cross-examination and again claimed that there had been a discovery violation. **R. p. 582, l. 21-p. 583, l. 3.** However, the trial judge found that there had not been a *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) violation. He further noted that he had the notes that Agent Prodan had made provided to the defendants, and he noted that the examination would proceed after a break. **R. p. 583. ll. 12-25.** *See also R. pp. 584-85.* When the jury returned, the trial judge explained that he was "going to allow the witness to -- and is going to qualify the witness to give his opinion in the areas of Behavioral Science, Violent Crime, Methodology, Motive Behavior." **R. p. 585, l. 23-p. 586, l. 1.**

In front of the jury, Agent Prodan explained that, upon receiving a request for assistance from

---

<sup>16</sup> Both defendants initially complained because the State had not disclosed that Agent Prodan would be giving the testimony at issue and because there was no report. The State, however, responded by pointing to items where the testimony was disclosed. **R. pp. 572-75.** Prodan then testified that the Assistant Solicitor had met with him about two weeks earlier, and she provided him with copies of the crime scene photographs and the autopsy report; and she asked him to testify "[t]o the materials pertaining to how the crime occurred." However, he had not kept notes, and he had not issued a report to law enforcement or the Solicitor's Office. He also had not generated any report, except for his "case notes" that were merely bullet points "to keep my thoughts on track." Even these were only generated a week before his testimony. **R. pp. 575-81.**

a law enforcement agency, he first asks for background information about the victim or victims. "It is referred to in certain literatures. . . as a Victimology, the study of the victim." The initial question he tries to answer is why the victim was selected to be a victim of a violent crime. This requires him to assess the degree of risk the person had to be a victim - whether it is a low, moderate or high risk of being a victim. In making this assessment, "we insist that the agency does not give us any information about any suspects that they may have developed. . . because we don't want to have any contamination. . . on suspect information as to what actually happened during the commission of the violent crime." **R. pp. 586-87.**

Agent Prodan explained that an individual's risk level is based upon the individual's circumstances. So, high risk victims are persons whose lifestyles put them "at a high risk of becoming a violent crime victim."<sup>17</sup> Low risk victims are those persons who are not involved in sexual affairs or prostitution, and who are not involved in criminal enterprises or drug selling. Experience and research reflect that "the lower the risk of a victim, the more likely it is that a person[ ] - - is a victim because of a person[al] cause." **R. pp. 586-88.** In between low and high risk victims are the "moderate risk victims." Those persons do not live a very risky lifestyle, but certain circumstances in their lives increases their risk of being a victim. He included convenience store clerks and cab drivers in this category, as well as persons who are "dabbling in criminal enterprises." **R. p. 588.**

The background information he received in this case was that one victim, Jamilla, "was involved in some reasonably moderate illicit drug sales." Selling illegal drugs is risky by its very nature because people will often try to steal from the person. The crime scene photographs confirmed

---

<sup>17</sup> He included persons who are "involved in criminal organizations and enterprises, criminal gangs," as well as persons who traffic in narcotics or are sexually promiscuous within this category because these persons "put themselves in a position" to be "more susceptible of becoming victims of violence than anyone else."

that Jamilla had considered herself to be at risk because she had “availed herself” of a shotgun to provide her with physical protection. **R. pp. 588-89.** Agent Prodan assessed Jamilla’s risk level as moderate because of her drug trafficking. With the exception of living with Jamilla, he assessed Monica’s risk level as low. **R. pp. 589-90.**

The next step in his process is “to look at how the crime occurred” and ascertain the motive for the murders.<sup>18</sup> Here, the murders occurred in Jamilla’s residence, which is where law enforcement learned that she would primarily engage in her drug transactions. Also, the killer brought a weapon, which demonstrated some “pre-planning” by the perpetrator. Further, “[t]he victims were killed with what we typically see in a quote, unquote, drug related murder, a small to medium caliber handgun.” Nor did the perpetrator make any effort to move or otherwise “interact with” the victims’ bodies after killing them, and there was a minimal effort to destroy or conceal any physical evidence that was present,<sup>19</sup> other than taking the murder weapon. **R. pp. 590-92.** Based on these factors, Agent Prodan opined that this was “a primarily drug-related murder, and the motive for drug-related murders have to do with the discipline of the individual” perpetrator. **R. pp. 592-93; 600-01.**<sup>20</sup>

Next, Agent Prodan studied how the crimes occurred, both pre-offense and offense behavior. Before the crime, someone had to devise a plan: they had to select a particular place to rob and a

---

<sup>18</sup> It is his expert opinion, based upon experience and research, that there is always a motive for violent crimes, such as murder; and that any contrary belief misunderstands violent crimes. **R. p. 590.**

<sup>19</sup> For example, the crime scene reports did not reflect that the victims’ bodies and had been washed or that any effort was made to wipe for prints. **R. p. 592.**

<sup>20</sup> Sometimes it is either to eliminate a competitor or to retaliate against a victim who owes the person money but cannot repay it. Also, drug dealers may be targeted for robbery of their drugs and money because drug dealers typically do not report robberies to the police. **R. pp. 592-93.** Agent Prodan opined that two other possible motives for drug-related murders were inapplicable in this case: the killing of an informant or a neighborhood anti-drug advocate. **R. p. 603.**

particular time to rob it; they had to bring a weapon and ammunition; and they had to develop a plan to gain entry into the residence where the murder occurred. The manner in which the murders occurred shows that the plan for the murders originated outside of the residence. **R. pp. 593-95.**

Once inside the residence, the perpetrator has to gain control over the victim, which can be done by (1) the perpetrator's "mere presence"; (2) a verbal threat; (3) physical force or (4) a weapon. In this case, neither the autopsy reports nor the crime scene photographs suggested that either Jamilla or Monica was the victim of blunt force trauma, such as defensive injuries or facial injuries. There was also no evidence of a struggle in the house or that either victim was physically restrained or "bound." Moreover, based on photographs of Jamilla in her bedroom (**State's Exs. 2 and 5**), "it appears, . . . most likely, that she was ordered to lie flat on the floor, the individual put a pillow over her head, and then fired one shot through the pillow at relatively close range into her head." **R. pp. 595-99.**

There were two possible reasons for using a pillow case in this fashion. First, it is easier, emotionally, to depersonalize the victim and shoot a pillow rather a person's head. Second, it would reduce the amount of recoil and prevent "any blow-back of blood" onto the perpetrator or his weapon. Again, this suggestion pre-planning. **R. pp. 599-600.** From his review of the crime scene photographs and autopsy reports, Agent Prodan did not see any evidence that either victim resisted. This suggested to Agent Prodan that the killer had gone into the residence with the belief that the victims would not cooperate and were potentially armed. This would explain why the perpetrator killed the victims - *i.e.*, the motive for the killings. **R. p. 600-02; 604-05.**

Over *Stephens* renewed objection to lack of relevancy, Agent Prodan was permitted to opine as to the manner in which Monica was murdered. He explained that, based on **State's Exs. 10 and**

49, she had been killed in a manner similar to Jamilla. Because there was some feces in Monica's bedroom, it appeared that she had been moved from her bedroom to the bathroom. She was moved there to kill her because she was a potential witness. **R. pp. 602-04.**

**B. Discussion.**

**1. Sessions' relevancy objection does not preserve issue for appellate review.**

As shown, Sessions' only objections were that the State had committed a discovery violation and that the testimony was not relevant. **R. pp. 572-73; 579; 582.** On appeal, he has not challenged the trial judge's ruling that there was no *Brady* violation. Therefore, that argument has been abandoned. *Sullivan*, 277 S.C. at 42, 282 S.E.2d at 842. In arguing that Prodan's proffered testimony was not relevant at trial, Sessions merely stated, "Now the objection is relevance." **R. p. 582, l. 18.** He did not argue either how or why the proffered testimony was supposedly irrelevant. He also did not advance anything close to the argument that he now raises on appeal.

On appeal, he relies upon the reversed decision of the Court of Appeals in *Tapp I*, and asserts that the testimony was also inadmissible under this Court's decision in *Tapp II*. In *Tapp II*, this Court reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals in *Tapp I*. The Court in *Tapp I* had agreed with the defendant's challenge to the qualification of Agent Prodan as an expert witness and it reversed Tapp's convictions and sentence based upon this Court's decision in *State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), and its finding that the record was insufficient "for this court to determine whether Prodan should have been qualified [to testify] under *White*." *Tapp I*, 387 S.C. at 164-69, 691 S.E.2d at 167, 169 -170.<sup>21</sup> This Court granted certiorari and reversed in *Tapp II*. See 398 S.C.

---

<sup>21</sup> Specifically, the Court of Appeals in *Tapp I* was concerned about the absence of findings by the trial judge of the foundational requirements under *White* that "(1) the expert has the requisite qualifications, experience, and/or credentials; (2) the methodology by which the evidence is obtained is reliable; and (3) the evidence will assist the

at 379, 728 S.E.2d at 470.

This Court found that the Court of Appeals had

misstated that White created the requirement that “the foundational reliability of nonscientific testimony must be tested prior to the qualification of an expert.” *Tapp*[I], 387 S.C. at 166, 691 S.E.2d at 169 (emphasis added). The court additionally stated, “this court is left with no guidance on what test or elements must be satisfied to establish the foundational reliability necessary to qualify an expert in the fields of crime scene analysis and victimology.” *Id.* at 166–67, 691 S.E.2d at 169. To be clear, the reliability of a witness's testimony is not a pre-requisite to determining whether or not the witness is an expert. The expertise, reliability, and the ability of the testimony to assist the trier of fact are all threshold determinations to be made prior to the admission of expert testimony, and generally, a witness's expert status will be determined prior to determining the reliability of the testimony.

*Tapp II*, 398 S.C. at 388, 728 S.E.2d at 474-75.

This Court did not find that the trial court had erred in qualifying Prodan as an expert. *Id.* at 387-89, 728 S.E.2d at 474-75.<sup>22</sup> Rather, the Court found that “[u]nder *White*, after qualifying Prodan as an expert, the circuit judge should have then evaluated the substance of Prodan's testimony to determine if it was reliable, as required by Rule 702, SCRE.” This Court did not express any view on the reliability of his opinions. *Id.* at 387 n. 11, 728 S.E.2d at 474 n. 11. While the trial court had erred, this Court found that any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it “did not

---

trier of fact.” *Tapp I*, 387 S.C. at 164-69, 691 S.E.2d at 167-70.

<sup>22</sup> The argument in the Petition is somewhat confusing but, to the extent the current argument is that Prodan was not properly qualified as an expert, his argument must be rejected in light of both the current record and this Court's decision in *Tapp II*. See also Rule 702, SCRE (“If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise”); *White*, 382 S.C. at 269, 676 S.E.2d at 686 (“A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion. *State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006)”); *Mizell v. Glover*, 351 S.C. 392, 406, 570 S.E.2d 176, 183 (2002) (“A trial court's ruling to exclude or admit expert testimony will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion”). As the California Supreme Court in *People v. Prince*, 40 Cal.4th 1179, 1222, 156 P.3d 1015, 1047, 57 Cal.Rptr.3d 543, 580 (2007), “experts may testify even when jurors are not ‘wholly ignorant’ about the subject of the testimony. ... ‘If that [total ignorance] were the test, little expert opinion testimony would ever be heard.’” (Citations omitted).

contribute to the guilty verdict.” *Id* at 389-90, 728 S.E.2d at 475.

Here, however, Sessions did not raise any type of challenge to the foundational requirements for this testimony or to Agent Prodan’s expertise in the trial court (which would be without merit as *Tapp II* makes clear) or, more importantly, to the trial judge’s failure to fully vet the reliability of Prodan’s testimony, which this Court based its decision on in *Tapp II*.<sup>23</sup> His only objection was the unspecified lack of relevancy.<sup>24</sup> Thus, his argument on appeal is procedurally barred. *See State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one theory in support of his objection or motion at trial and raise a different theory on appeal); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court”); *State v. Holmes*, 320 S.C. 259, 266, 464 S.E.2d 334 (1995) (appellant’s general objection to introduction of wallet during the guilt phase that it had no relevance did not preserve motion for a new trial, after the verdict in the sentencing phase,

---

<sup>23</sup> This is hardly surprising, in light of the fact that Sessions had his own expert in the area of crime scene analysis, Mr. Girndt. *See R. p. 665*.

<sup>24</sup> He suggests that he objected to Prodan’s testimony as speculative. However, that was part of *Stephens*’ objection and he cannot avail himself of that objection because he did not join in it. *E.g.*, *State v. Carriker*, 269 S.C. 553, 555, 238 S.E.2d 678, 678 (1977) (holding that the appellant’s assertion of error was not preserved because “appellant’s counsel made no objection ... at trial. While appellant’s co-defendant did object, the appellant may not utilize the objection of another defendant to gain review”); *State v. Brannon*, 347 S.C. 85, 89, 552 S.E.2d 773, 775 (Ct.App.2001) (trial judge’s failure to suppress evidence not preserved where appellant did not join in co-defendant’s motion to suppress); *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 123, 481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997) (“Finally, the remaining issues raised by appellant are not preserved for review since appellant failed to object during trial or join in his co-defendant’s objections.”).

based on prejudice arising from various items contained in the wallet).<sup>25</sup> Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Therefore; this Court should affirm based on the application of this well-settled and fundamental procedural bar. Application of the bar is particularly appropriate since Prodan’s testimony was relevant to the issues before the jury.

**2. Alternatively, any error in admitting Prodan’s testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.**

Even if this Court finds that the issue was not procedurally barred, Respondent alternatively submits that reversal still is not required because the record supports the qualification of Prodan as an expert and the Court of Appeals correctly found, as this Court had in *Tapp II*, that any error in admitting the substance of his testimony - without first vetting it for reliability - was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it did not contribute to the verdict. The Court of Appeals observed that this Court’s decision in *White* “was issued several months after the trial in the present case took place.” It further found that Sessions’ gatekeeper argument was preserved for appellate review based upon this Court’s decision in *Tapp II. Sessions*, at 3, **App. 3**. It then found that any error was harmless, as follows:

we hold that "beyond a reasonable doubt the trial error did not contribute to the guilty verdict[s]" against Sessions. *Id.* at 390, 728 S.E.2d at 475. Here, Prodan's testimony concerned only the victims and the crime scene. He never identified Sessions, the co-defendant, or anyone else as a perpetrator and testified that at his insistence, he was not given any information about any suspects developed in the case. As was the case in *Tapp*, the jury made numerous factual determinations in arriving at its verdict,

---

<sup>25</sup> See also *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 340 S.E.2d 543 (1986) (“Issues not properly preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal. To the extent that *State v. Griffin*, [129 S.C. 200, 124 S.E. 81 (1924)], may be inconsistent with this result it is overruled”).

including (1) whether shoe prints found at the crime scene matched the shoes taken from Sessions's property bag, (2) whether the shoes taken from Sessions's property bag were the same shoes he had on his person when he was initially taken into custody, (3) the reliability of a witness who allegedly heard Sessions and his co-defendant discussing how they would rob and possibly kill one of the victims, (4) the same witness's claims that the defendants requested his assistance in the crime, (5) the reliability of the testimony of Sessions's own expert in the field of footwear identification. Given these and other factual questions, we hold that any error in the trial judge's failure to properly vet Prodan's testimony for its reliability was harmless, and (6) the credibility of testimony that certain individuals knew about the deaths of the victims before the police found their bodies.

*See Sessions*, at 4-5, **App. 4-5**.

Additionally, Respondent would point to the other, overwhelming evidence of guilt set forth in **Argument I**, *supra*. Thus, any error “could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial.”

*See Sherard*, 303 S.C. at 175, 399 S.E.2d at 596.

#### CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny certiorari.